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Why do we do
what we do?

Because when people
engage with the Bible
their lives can change,

for good.
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From our Chair
James Featherby 
Chair of the Board of Trustees

 

‘Give thanks to the Lord, because he is good, and his love is eternal.’  
(Psalm 118.1)

This is my second report as Chair of Bible Society. As I write and 
reflect on the past year, I remain as excited as ever about the 
importance of our mission to offer the Bible to the world. I also 
have an overwhelming sense of thankfulness to God for all that is 
being accomplished. We are playing a small, but significant part, in 
the ongoing story of God and the world.

It has been a year of change and transition. In September, we were 
delighted to welcome our new Chief Executive, Paul Williams. Paul 
is an economist and theologian who was previously in Canada as 
Research Professor of Marketplace Theology and Leadership at 
Regent College, Vancouver. Paul’s commitment to the Bible and 
whole life discipleship resonates with us deeply and is set to shape 
the focus and activity of Bible Society in the coming years. In his 
first three months Paul set aside time to listen to staff, Trustees, 
church leaders and others talk about their hopes and dreams 
for Bible mission and Bible Society nationally and globally. In 
February he presented an initial report to the Board outlining an 
emerging strategic vision which he and the Leadership team had 
been working on and which they will continue to build on. This 
work complements the strategic review previously undertaken 
and we look forward to engaging with the fruit of their labours in 
the months ahead. I am grateful that Paul responded to God’s call 
to join Bible Society and it has been a delight to work with him 
during the last six months. The Board have greatly appreciated 
his open and inclusive leadership style. I’m also hugely grateful to 
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Paul Woolley for steering the organisation through the nine-month 
interim period. 

In October 2016, we welcomed Paul Bosson as a new Trustee and 
Treasurer.  Paul has a deep commitment to the Scriptures and 
serving God with the skills and experience he has been given. He 
has enjoyed an international business career and served as Chief 
Financial Officer at a number of technology businesses. We are 
grateful to Paul for his willingness to serve Bible Society’s mission 
and for the contribution that he has already made in the last six 
months.

In May 2016, I was privileged to be part of Bible Society’s 
delegation at the World Assembly of Bible Societies in Philadelphia, 
the city of ‘brotherly love and sisterly affection.’ The World 
Assembly, which typically meets every six years is an important 
gathering and sets the direction UBS will take in the coming years. 
Three hundred and fifty delegates from Bible Societies all over the 
world, guests, church representatives and partner organisations 
joined together to discuss and review the work of the fellowship 
and worship together under the theme ‘God’s Word: Living Hope 
for All’. The delegates discussed ‘The Suffering Church’ – those 
facing persecution, poverty and violence all over the world as 
a result of their Christian faith. It is extraordinary that, despite 
everything, our work in Syria and South Sudan has continued 
throughout the last year.

‘The Changing Church’ was also discussed at the World Assembly. 
Despite a decline in demand for the Bible in Western Europe and 
North America, the Church is growing exponentially in China, 
Africa and South America. Forty-three percent of the world’s 
population is now under 25 years old. Digital tools are becoming 
increasingly important in making the Bible available to everyone. 
Delegates spent the week discussing these issues and working 
towards agreeing a strategic document that will guide the work of 
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the Bible Societies over the next six years. The Philadelphia Promise 
affirms the central place of Bible translation in the Fellowship’s 
work, and identifies eight priorities for Bible Societies to focus on, 
ranging from building leadership capacity to developing work 
among particular audiences. Paul Woolley, Paula Gooder (our then 
Theologian in Residence) and Matthew van Duyvenbode (National 
Programme Director) took part in seminars and gave keynote 
addresses which can be viewed at  
vimeo.com/channels/ubsworldassembly2016/videos

On Sunday 12 June 2016, it was a joy to join staff, Trustees, 
volunteers and supporters of Bible Society on The Mall in St 
James’s Park to celebrate the 90th birthday of our patron, Her 
Majesty the Queen. Ten thousand guests took part in a classic 
British ‘street party’ (rain included). Her Majesty was joined by 
the Duke of Edinburgh and other members of the royal family to 
celebrate the occasion. We give thanks for the patronage of the 
Queen, her commitment to the Bible and Bible Society, and, above 
all, her commitment to the God to whom the Scriptures bear 
witness.

In February, our President, Right Revd and Right Hon Dr Richard 
Chartres, retired as Bishop of London. Whilst Bishop Richard 
remains our President until the autumn, it would be remiss 
not to use this opportunity to pay tribute to his energy and 
commitment to Bible Society. We could not have had a more 
engaged, encouraging or active President. The Bishop has a 
reputation for giving his backing to anything where he sees the 
Holy Spirit at work. We are enormously grateful for the way that 
he has promoted our global Bible mission at conferences, events 
(including ones he has hosted at home), meetings and overseas 
trips. The Bishop’s engagement with our work in China has been a 
special highlight. 
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During the past year Bible Society has gained Investor in People 
(silver status). Our Best Companies rating increased from one to 
two stars and we moved from 76th to 31st in the Sunday Times 
list of Top 100 Not-for-Profit-Organisations. I remain inspired by 
the creativity and commitment of our staff and am grateful for all 
of their hard work and dedication. Special thanks go to my fellow 
Trustees for their service to our mission. It is a delight to work 
alongside them.

We look back on the year with a deep sense of humility and 
gratitude to God for all that has been achieved. Above all, we are 
grateful to you, our supporters and volunteers, for your partnership 
with us in the Gospel. We are, together, part of a global Bible 
movement. We are deeply grateful for your prayers, sacrificial work 
and financial support. So, a heartfelt thank you.

James Featherby 
Chair of the Board of Trustees
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From our  
Chief Executive 
Paul Williams 
 
‘Behold, I am doing a new thing; now it springs forth, do you not 
perceive it? I will make a way in the wilderness and rivers in the desert.’ 
(Isaiah 43.19)

This is my first report as Chief Executive of Bible Society, having 
taken up the post in September. My impressions during these first 
six months have been marked by a sense of privilege, discovery 
and excitement.

Bible Society is an extraordinary organisation with an amazing 
history. It is a privilege to be associated with it and to be involved 
in leading this work of God that has maintained a faithful and 
vital pursuit of its founding vision and mission for over two 
centuries. My first engagement for Bible Society took place before 
I had officially started work when I attended the bicentennial 
celebrations of the American Bible Society and the opening of the 
World Assembly in Philadelphia in May 2016. 

Almost my last engagement of this year was another bicentennial 
celebration, this time on the other side of the world with the Bible 
Society of Australia in Sydney in March 2017. Both these Societies 
have long histories to be proud of but are also enthusiastically and 
effectively engaged in Bible mission today – in their own countries, 
and beyond. 

The World Assembly, the gathering of the world’s 147 Bible 
Societies, which typically meets every six years, opened my eyes 
to the unity, love and power of the fellowship of Bible Societies 
that together form United Bible Societies (UBS). I’ve made a point 
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of visiting some of those we are working with especially closely 
at present in China, Africa and the Middle East. It has been an 
enormously humbling and uplifting experience to see the courage, 
faithfulness and joy of Christians in these contexts as they are 
eager to read, translate, distribute and teach the Bible, often in 
conditions of great adversity. The challenges are immense, but the 
opportunities for global Bible mission are greater still.

Following my arrival in September, I spent the first three months 
essentially in ‘listening’ mode. I wanted to discover what I could 
about Bible Society first-hand by listening to staff, Trustees and 
supporters, as well as other Bible Societies and Christian leaders 
in Britain. I took time to speak with all of our staff and asked them 
four questions: Why are you working here? What are your dreams 
for Bible Society? What challenges do we need to overcome to 
realise them? How could we increase the appetite for the Bible at 
home in this country.

I found that staff love working at Bible Society and enjoy its 
missional focus, supportive culture and engaging colleagues. This 
is a huge encouragement and a situation that cannot be taken 
for granted. There is a real desire among our people to engage 
with all parts of the Church and society, especially the young, the 
marginalised and the spiritually open, and to do so with a clear 
and confident voice. This desire is heightened by an awareness 
that many people in Britain today, not least Christians, have lost 
confidence in the Bible. To address this challenge we believe that 
we need to work in a more focussed way with supporters and 
strategic partners in the Church and beyond. If we want to increase 
the appetite for the Bible, there are a whole host of barriers that, 
together, we need to help overcome.

I asked another set of related questions to those who are not 
staff at Bible Society: What are Bible Society’s strengths and 
weaknesses? What is the spiritual temperature in Britain? What 
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opportunities do we need to explore? Many of those I have 
spoken with sense that the spiritual temperature is rising. There 
is a shift in posture among many leaders and churches toward 
active missional engagement – a sense that the tide of secularism 
is somehow turning and that we need to be prepared for what 
God will do.  Bible Society has a hugely positive reputation 
among those who know us but the most common word I heard 
to describe us is ‘potential.’ Many outsiders see in Bible Society 
enormous potential for impact at home in this country as well as 
overseas – and see a vital role for the Bible – and Bible Society – in 
the challenges facing the country in our generation. This is not so 
much the potential of a poor performer in need of improvement, 
but of a strong performer that nonetheless needs to transform its 
way of being in order to be effective in a changed environment.

What do we make of all this? In January I had to answer this 
question as I reported back to staff on all that I had heard and 
offered a sense of what I see going forward.

My conviction is that God is mobilising the Church in Britain for 
a new wave of mission. Mobilisation is about gathering people 
together and equipping them in preparation for a focused 
mission as God continues to reconcile all things to himself in 
Christ (Ephesians 1.10). There is a call to bold action because the 
Church has to some extent been ‘disarmed’ and needs to recover 
its confidence in God, the Bible and the Gospel. Bible Society is not 
a church but we serve the Church and the wider mission of God in 
the world through our particular calling to promote the circulation 
and use of the Bible. 

This mobilisation provides an incredibly exciting and important 
opportunity for Bible Society as we seek to respond to God’s 
leading in our generation. ‘Mobilisation’ is a military metaphor and 
within the limited biblical usage of such metaphors, the Bible is 
the only ‘offensive’ weapon we have. It is the ‘sword of the Spirit’ 
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(Ephesians 6.17). And yet for many Christians today we appear 
embarrassed by it. The sword has been put in a cupboard, is 
gathering dust, going rusty and we’ve largely forgotten how to use 
it. 

In the years ahead, Bible Society needs to help the Church in 
Britain recover confidence in the Bible. Together we need to take it 
out of the cupboard, clean it off, sharpen it up and learn again how 
to deploy it. The Greek word used for ‘sword’ in Ephesians 6.17 is 
the same one used in Hebrews 4.12.  It captures the sense of a  
multi-purpose tool – like a Swiss Army knife – that may be used as 
a weapon, to excise a wound or to eat food.  This reflects the nature 
of Scripture as a ‘sword’ – it does indeed help us ‘take captive’ 
every thought that ‘sets itself up against the knowledge of God’ (2 
Corinthians 10.3-6) – but it also brings healing and wholeness to 
the human person and opens up a whole-life sustaining encounter 
with God.

As we move forward into a new financial year, Isaiah 43.19 is a text 
we are continuing to prayerfully reflect on together. It invites us 
to look and see the new thing that God is doing so that our faith is 
built up, our hope properly anchored, and our activities shaped by 
a desire to see God’s love in action through our work. Please join us 
as we seek earnestly to reach the potential that God has for us, in 
this generation, to promote the circulation and use of the Bible at 
home and abroad.

Paul Williams 
Chief Executive 
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Bringing the Bible to life 
in today’s world
Our vision is a world where everyone has access to the Bible 
and can recognise its value for themselves, their families and 
communities. 

We help people experience the change that the Bible can bring 
and we do this through translation, distribution, engagement and 
advocacy.

Over the last year we’ve focused our efforts in places like China, 
Africa and the Middle East where demand for the Bible is growing 
fast. We’re also working hard at home in this country to help 
people engage and recognise the value of the Scriptures.  
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Together we can do something amazing: bring the Bible 
to life for every man, woman and child.
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Thank you for your 
support
We wouldn’t be able to bring the Bible to life for people around 
the world if it wasn’t for our fantastic supporters, volunteers and 
partners. Here’s a snapshot of how you got involved: 

You donated

There are now more Bible a Month supporters than 
ever before – an increase of more than 2,000 people 
over the last year alone. 

Through your generosity and kindness you raised 
£11,371,000 over the last financial year. 

You responded to our emergency appeals for places 
like the Middle East and South Sudan, placing the word 
of God directly into the hands of those who need it.

SOS
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Through Open the Book, 14,662 volunteer storytellers 
are delivering Bible stories in 2,616 primary schools 
across England and Wales, reaching an estimated 
700,000 children anually.

More than 450 volunteers in churches have made us 
more visible to their communities as they continue to 
represent us to their churches, leading to prayers, gifts 
and requests for speaking appointments.

Our speaker team of 72 people has enabled us to 
complete many additional appointments that staff 
could not fulfil without them. They used resources to 
share the need for Bibles to support refugees within 
the Middle East and those arriving in Europe.

Over 60 people volunteered with us at festivals up and 
down the country last year, either serving in our cafés 
or sharing our work on the stands. 

More than 160 Action Groups continue to bring the 
Bible to life, as some of them have done for over 200 
years.  

You volunteered
Volunteers always have and always will be 
an important part of our family. We are so 

grateful to everyone who offers their time, 
talents and efforts to bring the Bible to life 

through their actions and words. 



On behalf of all those who encountered Scripture 
over the last year as a result of your kindness and 
commitment, thank you. 

As you’ll see on the following pages, by working together 
we really can bring the Bible to life for everyone.
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Our work
 in China
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Christianity in China is growing at a rapid rate. In China 
today, you will find churches so full their congregants spill 
out on the pavement.  
What’s more, copies of the Bible – once a banned book in 
China – are now within reach through local churches and 
specially licensed bookshops.
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China
Strengthening the roots of the 
Chinese Church 
The demand for Scripture is a priority for the Church in China. In 
2016 1.28 million affordable Bibles were distributed there. This 
reflects our heart to support the ongoing growth of the Chinese 
Church – echoing Isaiah’s prophecy: ‘Make your tents larger! Spread 
out the tent pegs; fasten them firmly.’ Isaiah 54.2 (CEV)
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On his first overseas trip as 
Bible Society’s Chief Executive, 
Paul Williams, noted ‘The good 
news about the Church in 
China is that the numbers keep 
growing. Churches in both 
urban and rural settings are full 
to capacity.’

Thanks to the generosity of 
Bible Society supporters and 
with the permission from 
the Chinese authorities over 
120,000 ethnic minority 
language Bibles, including 
the Bible for the Black Yi, were 
printed in China. 

Malcolm Fleming, Fundraising 
Officer, and our supporter 
Bridget Nelson travelled from 
Nanjing to Yunnan, a distance 
of over 1,400 miles for the 
launch of the Black Yi language 
translation. Bridget said, ‘The 
most memorable event for me 
during our visit to China was 
the Thanksgiving Service at the 
church in Sayingpan where we 
had the privilege of distributing 
the first ever full Bible to the 
Black Yi. The reaction of this 
minority group receiving the 
Bible in their heart language 
was so moving I shall never Ph
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forget it. There were real tears of joy, praise to God and such 
gratitude towards us. It was truly an historic event.’ 

This group of three, including Pastor Zhang Wenfu, are feeding 
their souls, whilst feeding their bodies with the staples of the Black 
Yi – corn and beans. Li Guangen and his wife Wang Tingfang live in 
Chao village in Yunnan Province. There are 800,000 Black Yi living in 
Yunnan Province, of which 26% are Christians. At the end of 2016, 
20,000 of the first print-run were distributed through the Three Self 
Patriotic Movement and the China Christian Council of Yunnan. 

Alongside this growth, the China Christian Council are training 
pastors at State and Provincial seminaries all over the country. In 
November 2016, for the first time in its history, students from the 
East China Theological Seminary, Shanghai and the Shandong 
(Provincial) Theological Seminary joined a group of academics 
from China and the UK for the sixth Bible in China seminar in 
Shanghai. 
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The discussion on ‘The Bible and Values’ was a unique opportunity 
for these students to witness robust debate around the Bible in a 
demanding academic forum. The aim was to enable each student 
to be able to talk with gracious confidence about how the Bible 
advocates harmonious living, encouraging a love of the Bible and a 
love for China in both the private and public arena.

What have we been doing over the last year in China?     
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1.28 million affordable Bibles distributed

228 literacy classes, benefitting 17,300 people

794 Bible teachers and seminar students supported

349,000 exposed to digital content

120,000 ethnic minority language Bibles printed.

1

2

3

4
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Our work 
in Africa
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and conflict, Bibles are bringing hope, peace and breaking 
down barriers.  
In the next 10 years more Christians will live in Africa than 
on any other continent. Demand for the Bible is already 
unprecedented – and it’s on the rise. 
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Africa
The Bible as a catalyst for 
change
This year we’ve invested more than ever in the toughest, hardest 
areas of sub-Saharan Africa supporting translation work, literacy, 
Bible distribution, trauma healing and the Good Samaritan 
programme.

Our colleague Edward Kajivora from South Sudan shares the reality 
of his situation with us. ‘Since the end of 2013 the news coming out 
of South Sudan is only news of war, suffering and hunger, resulting 
in local people escaping to either UN Protection Camps or to 
refugee camps in neighbouring countries. We provide the only 
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Bible distribution centre in the 
country and it was threatened 
with closure. The staff members 
were just waiting to hear from 
me if we would close and 
reopen when the situation 
normalises. On my part I was 
not ready to close the office 
but would do so if live shooting 
reached our office. I made this 
clear to the staff members but 
gave them the option to leave 
the country if they felt their 
lives were in danger. Most of 
the staff opted to send their 
families to UN refugee camps 
in Uganda but they themselves 
remained in the country.’ 

In the midst of war we have  
still managed to fully translate 
the Bible into the Mabaan 
language, two years ahead of 
schedule. From 2017, 800,000 
Mabaan speakers will benefit 
from this translation.  
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Bible Society in Mozambique became our newest partner in Africa. 
For a five-year programme, there are lots of challenges facing our 
work here:  

• The country is huge. From Maputo in the south, to Pemba in 
the north, it’s 1,500 miles. That’s Land’s End to John O’Groats 
and back again.

• The middle parts of Mozambique are rebel-held so Bible 
distribution and mission work is often difficult.

• Forty-three languages are spoken here so Bible translation is 
vital. Ten translations are currently underway. 
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We plan to tackle these difficulties by creating regional hubs to run 
Bible distribution, translation and literacy programmes, as well as 
Bible-based trauma healing for communities displaced by rebel 
fighting. We want to set up the first hub in 2017, and have at least 
two others by 2022.

Another example of our work in the toughest, hardest places in 
Africa is in Congo Brazzaville. Despite the tensions in the Pool 
area, where 4,000 people have been internally displaced, our staff 
in Congo have been running a literacy programme for over 500 
people in the regions of Likouala, Sangha, Plateaux and Pool. 

What have we been doing over the last year in Africa? 
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2,236,000 people have experienced the word of God in 
their heart language through our ongoing translation 
projects

440,520 people have received Bibles through our 
distribution network

84,300 people have taken part in our literacy projects.

1

2

3
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Jireh Programme
The Jireh programme is founded upon our Royal Charter’s 
commission to make Bibles available throughout the world. It is 
primarily designed to help with capacity building of those Bible 
Societies, especially in Africa and Asia, that are experiencing 
financial difficulties in their effort to distribute Bibles because of 
cash flow challenges. By allowing the Bible Societies to pay for the 
Bibles once they have sold or distributed them, they are able to 
ensure stock availability at all times.

Over the last financial year, around 430,000 copies of the Bible 
have been sold with more than 350,000 copies available for 
distribution. There are currently 14 Societies with or in the process 
of getting stock for the programme, eight of which are based in 
Africa. The programme continues to enable these Societies to focus 
on distribution of the Bibles while the stock management and 
replenishment are taken care of by our Bible publishing team.

It is believed that through the Jireh programme these Societies will 
grow and in time become self-sustaining vibrant Societies. 
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Our work 
in the Middle East
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Amongst the war and suffering in the Middle East, people 
of all faiths are looking to the Bible for hope.  
We’re shining a light into the darkness by bringing 
Scriptures into the lives of those in need.
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Middle East
Providing the Bible in the 
midst of suffering
In the midst of terror and adversity in the Middle East 
opportunities for strengthening and growing the Christian faith 
are becoming increasingly evident. We have a strong presence in 
the Middle East. Our colleagues there have not only supported 
those who have been affected by this crisis but have reached out 
to all in need through the diversity of our in-country projects; and 
shown the love of God by walking alongside the persecuted and 
displaced wherever they may be. Our focus is to strengthen the 
presence of the Christian Church in the Middle East. This is not new 
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work, it’s what we have been 
doing in the region for decades.

We’re discovering an 
unprecedented demand for 
the Bible from both Christians 
relying deeply on the hope that 
God’s word brings and Muslims 
looking for an alternative to 
some extremist expressions 
of Islam they may see around 
them.

Local knowledge is at the heart 
of our work in the region and 
is provided for by the people 
that work in our 14 country 
offices. Our staff live alongside 
the millions of displaced and 
traumatised people and are 
involved in offering the Bible to 
support and heal the trauma of 
war. 

Hana*, a 17-year-old Syrian 
Christian girl was asked how 
she was able to cope with 
her trauma over the previous 
months. Her family had been 
separated and some members 
killed, she was now living in 
temporary accommodation 
in a foreign country with her 
unemployed parents and 
grandmother. *name changed Ph
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Her reply to us was a very emotional reading of Psalm 13…

‘How much longer, Lord, will you forget about me? Will it be 
forever?’ ending with ‘You have been good to me, Lord, and I will 
sing about you.’

This is a powerful example of why our mission to provide the Bible 
in the midst of suffering is so vital.

What have we been doing over the last year in the Middle East? 
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Completed four translation projects which have created 
access to the Bible for 460,000 people

866,000 people have received Bibles and Scripture 
materials through our distribution network 

15,300 people have benefitted from our trauma healing 
and refugee projects

10,000 people have been impacted through our 
reconciliation projects.

1

2

3

4



International Bible 
Advocacy Centre 
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IBAC
Over the last six years, we have developed and delivered a number 
of key Bible advocacy initiatives in partnership with sister Bible 
Societies around the world. The vehicle for these flagship advocacy 
projects is the International Bible Advocacy Centre (IBAC) whose 
staff are based at our Swindon office in the UK. 

In September 2016, IBAC partnered with the Bible Society in Kenya 
to deliver the sixth African Biblical Leadership Initiative (ABLI), held 
at the Kenya School of Government in Nairobi. Deputy President of 
Kenya, William Ruto, who opened ABLI, said that nations needed 
to base themselves in God and the Bible. ‘A nation that doesn’t 
believe in God is a nation destined for destruction,’ adding that 
ABLI was ‘a very significant initiative’. 

The event gathered national and pan-African government leaders, 
civil servants, representatives of civil society and clerics who 
engaged in passionate conversations on the role of the Bible in 
combatting corruption and promoting stewardship in the domains 
of family, politics, media, arts, sports and education. 

Ph
ot

og
ra

ph
y 

by
 B

ib
le

 S
oc

ie
ty



35

The three South Sudanese 
MPs attending the ABLI forum, 
representing different parts of 
the transitional coalition, told 
delegates about the fragile 
situation in the fledging state, 
which was only formed in 
2011. The forum ended with 
a commitment to convene 
an international conference 
including representatives of 
the African Union and United 
Nations ‘to express solidarity’ 
with the plight of South Sudan.

IBAC’s flagship annual event, 
the three-day Global Advocacy 
Exchange, saw over 20 
participants from 15 different 
Bible Societies meeting in 
Cape Town, South Africa to 
learn, encourage and enrich 
one another. The theme was ‘Influencing global thought leaders’ 
and Sir Charles Hoare led sessions on strategies for engaging the 
politics and government sectors. We learned how to advocate for 
the relevance of the Bible in politics looking at historical examples 
such as Wilberforce, Pitt, Mary Jones and John Jay, but also from 
biblical models like Joseph, Samuel, Nehemiah, Jesus and Paul. 
We then used this wealth of knowledge and experience to think 
through some of the challenges we face in our own nations, 
looking at projects and initiatives that might best use the Bible as a 
force for good.  At the end of the Exchange, a participant said ‘Bible 
advocacy is a fantastic tool to bring about change in a society, 
leading by example!’
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Our work 
at home
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We’re working across our society to help people recognise 
the value of the Bible and bring it to life in homes, 
churches and communities.
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At home
Engaging the unengaged and 
equipping the Church
While demand for the Bible is growing in many parts of the world, 
here at home the Bible is viewed by many as insignificant and 
irrelevant, with nine out of ten hardly engaging with it at all. Our 
national programme and Bible engagement activities are here to 
help people engage and recognise the value of the Bible. 

This year we officially became the only Bible Society on the planet 
to hold a Guinness World Record. We won the award for the 
hosting the World’s Largest Nativity or, as it’s officially titled, 
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‘The Most Living Figures in a 
Nativity Scene.’

The event took place on 3 
December and involved 1,254 
men, women and children from 
the town of Calne, in Wiltshire, 
coming together to take part in 
a live Nativity. 

All participants were dressed 
as either shepherds, magi or 
angels. The live interactive 
Nativity told the biblical story 
of Christmas to over 2,000 
people, including those who 
watched from the side lines. 
The previous record had been 
set in December 2014, when 
1,039 volunteers took part in a 
Nativity in Utah, USA. 

Our record-breaking event 
made many national 
newspapers, including 
extensive coverage in the 
Daily Telegraph, featuring on 
the front page, page three 
and the editorial for that day. 
It also featured on the Today 
programme on BBC Radio 4 
and Matthew Wright’s show on 
Channel 5.
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Open the Book (OtB) proves fruitful

Almost fifteen thousand volunteer storytellers are now reaching an 
estimated 700,000 children in over 600 primary schools. 

Over the last two years we’ve conducted independent research 
in several primary schools to measure how the storytelling 
assemblies have made a difference to the children’s biblical literacy, 
Christian values and relationships with the local church. Interviews 
were carried out with small groups of children, RE Co-ordinators 
and volunteers in both OtB and non-OtB schools. The consensus 
was that the knowledge and influence of Bible stories on the OtB 
groups was significantly positive and the OtB school children 
clearly retained Bible stories and characters better than their non-
OtB school counterparts. 

Our research showed that: 

• OtB storytelling is highly valued and enjoyed by children, 
teachers and volunteers alike

• It develops the children’s own sense of spirituality and helps 
form their world view

• It increases biblical literacy, builds moral character and 
supports Christian values.

 
An RE Co-ordinator reinforced 
the relationship-building aspect 
when she said, ‘It’s lovely having 
some of the local Christian 
community coming into school. 
And it goes without saying that 
the children love it too.’
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Bringing the Bible to life in Wales

In Wales, we’ve been innovating and expanding our programme to 
engage with a much larger cross-section of society.

Mary Jones World, our visitor centre in Bala, North Wales, 
welcomed 5,000 visitors this year, including 63 groups and 18 
schools. We’ve also launched a new drama about the story and 
legacy of Mary Jones and her Bible, which has played to 40 schools 
and nearly 2,500 children around Wales.

We delivered nine performances of Wales to the World across the 
country, with over 1,000 people experiencing this roadshow, which 
uses drama, interviews, video and song to tell the story of the Bible 
in Wales.

We’ve also been expanding our resources for Welsh speakers. The 
latest Welsh Bible, beibl.net, sold out on its first print run before it 
was even launched in November 2015. We sold out of our second 
print run of 3,000 by the end of 2016 and a large print version has 
also sold well. Bible Society Wales (Cymdeithas y Beibl) launched its 
own Welsh Facebook page (facebook.com/cymdeithasybeibl) and 
Twitter page (@cymybeibl), as well as increasing Welsh language 
presence on the Bible Society website (cymdeithasybeibl.cymru).

Working with other partners in 
Wales we’ve been promoting 
Beibl Byw (Bible Alive), a 
campaign to encourage people 
to read the Bible in Welsh. 
Joint activities at the National 
Eisteddfod and Royal Welsh 
Show, special services and 
Beibl Byw activity days have 
involved all the main Welsh 
denominations in this exciting 
initiative. Ph
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Going digital

Over the past year our digital presence has grown and we have 
seen an increase in traffic, reach and engagement online. Traffic 
to our website from social media has increased by 54% and on 
average, each post is now seen by almost 3,000 people.

#AdventChallenge continues to engage with new audiences over 
the Christmas season. It seeks to mobilise an online community 
of people who live out the Bible through daily challenges which 
impact their communities and those around them. Last year over 
100,000 challenges were accepted from making contributions to 
local food banks, talking or giving food to those sleeping rough 
and giving words of encouragement to others.  

Through online resources like Bible Book Club, we aim to produce 
creative and engaging resources to help people from all walks 
of life and stages of faith to read the Bible. Bible Book Club is 
designed to help people read books of the Bible as a whole rather 
than hopping from verse to verse. 

Our helpful guides provide handy background information 
including tips, discussion questions and some hints for handling 
those tricky sections. Since launching Bible Book Club, it has had 
3,986 downloads and 12,401 views across all pages. 

We also launched ‘You and Your Bible’, an online survey that 
provided the opportunity for people to tell us what they think 
about the Bible. The survey had over 3,700 responses and the 
insights will help us to provide people with the resources they 
need to bring the Bible to life in their homes, churches and 
communities. 

Overwhelmingly, the results of the survey highlight an appetite to 
grow in knowledge and understanding of the Bible amongst all 
ages and denominations of Christians. 
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Working together

In the North East, we supported the 
celebrations to mark the 1,300th 
anniversary of the creation of 
the Codex Amiatinus. The Codex 
Amiatinus is one of the rarest and 
most historically significant Latin 
Bibles that exists. To commemorate 
the anniversary, we worked with 
local partners to help develop a 
facsimile copy to return to the 
North East.

However, a physical copy is only 
one way of demonstrating the 
significance of the story of this 
monumental document. We also 
supported the Children’s Codex – a 
church initiative which empowered 
young people to interpret the 
Bible and explore what it means to 
them. Pupils from 150 schools took 
part, each taking a different Bible 
passage and rewriting it in their 
own voice along with illustrations. 
We provided a grant which allowed 
1,000 copies of the Children’s 
Codex to be printed. 

By gathering these young people 
together through this innovative, 
once-in-a-lifetime project with 
SPEAK (St Peter’s Educational 
Activities for Kids), the young 
people involved, and the whole 
community of Sunderland, were 
able to engage with the Bible.
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To help people recognise the value of the Bible in their lives, and 
the transformative power it has, it has, we worked with Together 
for the Common Good to launch Calling People of Goodwill. This 
compact, pocket-sized booklet helps Christians from all traditions 
explore what the Bible says about the common good. In a time 
of division and instability we are encouraged to build alliances of 
goodwill and hope and pray that this book blesses readers as they 
respond to God’s call to work for the common good in the world. 

Influencing culture and politics

Theos is our think tank, now in its eleventh year, led by Director 
Elizabeth Oldfield and Research Director Nick Spencer. It plays a 
central part in Bible Society’s mission to ‘encourage the wider… 
use of the Holy Bible,’ in this case by helping the public understand 
and use the significant socio-political content of the Bible. As one 
of the Theos publications (Freedom and Order: History, Politics and 
the English Bible) demonstrates, the Bible has been the single most 
influential document in British political history. 

On set of The Pitch, a Bible Society originated competition for 
aspiring filmmakers
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Theos seeks to inform the debate about the place of religion in 
society, challenge ill-informed thinking and change the climate of 
opinion around Christianity, faith and the Bible by producing  
top-quality research and publications, engaging events and  
well-thought through media comment and analysis. The audience 
for this work is primarily ‘opinion formers’. 

Theos has had another excellent year with the publication of two 
significant books – The Evolution of the West: how Christianity has 
shaped our values (SPCK) and The Mighty and the Almighty: how 
political leaders do God (Biteback) – and four reports, alongside 
numerous events and media interventions. Other highlights 
included the 10-year anniversary report, Doing Good: A future 
for Christianity in the 21st century, which echoed the title of the 
inaugural report ‘Doing Good’, and, like that one, had a foreword 
by the Archbishop of Canterbury and the Cardinal Archbishop of 
Westminster. The Theos team have written for or spoken on all 
major newspapers, from The Telegraph and The Guardian to The 
Mail and The Economist, and most major radio stations, including 
Radio 5 Live and the Radio 4’s Today programme. 
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Contemporary politics often lacks a coherent understanding 
of what makes a good human life and we aim to demonstrate 
the relevance and goodness of the Bible in this setting. We do 
this in partnership with the Christians in Parliament All-Party 
Parliamentary Group and our Parliamentary Officer Mark Harris is 
placed with the group in parliament. 

His team meet to read the Bible with Members and staff 1-1 and 
in small groups, the Bible is taught and applied in chapel services 
and the personal and political relevance of the Bible is explored 
through lectures, panel discussions and written briefing papers. 

During the past year they have hosted events with Condoleezza 
Rice and David Suchet, as well as organising the National 
Parliamentary Prayer Breakfast, attended by 700 MPs, Peers and 
church leaders from all over the UK. We also work in partnership 
with Christians in Politics, an organisation which seeks to inspire 
and equip Christians with the Bible to get involved in politics for 
the common good at a local, regional or national level.
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you leave behind?

By leaving a legacy to Bible Society you will 
bless future generations and many lives will be 

changed, for good, by the Bible.
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Paula Gooder, our then Theologian in Residence, led a 
week at Lee Abbey on Living the Resurrection. 

Our visitor and education centre in Bala, Mary Jones 
World, enters its third season. It’s open until 29 October 
2017.

Strategy conference with our colleagues in the Middle 
East to grow the impact and effectiveness of our 
mission.

Meeting of Bible Societies in Australia from across the 
world (up to 147) to discuss programmes and priorities.

Launch of Open the Book Christian Values Handbook. 

Visit us at New Wine, Shepton Mallet, in the Market 
Place and Bible Society café.

April  
2017

May  
2017

June  
2017

July  
2017

 August 
2017
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Plans for the future
 
With the arrival of Paul Williams at the end of September 2016 we 
are taking the opportunity to review our strategic vision. In 2017 
we will be focusing on gathering more people together around the 
Bible, equipping people to engage with the Bible more effectively, 
demonstrating the relevance and effectiveness of the Bible 
(through public campaigns) and aligning our work more effectively 
to the wider mission of the Church.

Key events: April 2017 - March 2018
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African Biblical Leadership Initiative conference in 
Cameroon.

Christmas story booklets for children available to 
order. 

Our new GCSE RE study guide Sources of Wisdom is 
available.

Bible Society-led retreat at Lee Abbey with Paul 
Woolley, Oldi Morava and Sandra Tebbutt on 1 Peter, 
Living Hope.

Bible in China conference on ‘The Bible in Culture’.

Join churches across England and Wales to 
celebrate the Bible’s message and take up this year’s 
#AdventChallenge.

January 2018: The Pitch competition finalist weekend 
at Pinewood Studios.

Open the Book Awareness week.

Preparations for The Passion of Jesus in Trafalgar 
Square.

September  
2017

October
2017

November
2017

December
2017

January
2018

February
2018

March
2018
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Financial review and risk 
management
Bible Society had a financially stable and encouraging year. The 
Charity’s total income was up on prior year by £1.4m to £19.5m 
(2016: £18.1m). Donations and legacies were up by £0.4m to 
£11.8m (2016: £11.4m). The Charity had a modest growth in its 
donor income and donations were particularly helped by key 
donors. The Charity’s trading subsidiary benefited from a full-year 
of Jireh related sales, a programme designed to help build capacity 
in Bible Societies, especially in Africa and Asia, experiencing 
financial difficulties in their effort to distribute Bibles because of 
cash-flow challenges. Overall trading income was up by £0.9m 
to £6.6m (2016: £5.7m) of which £0.8m can be attributed to Jireh 
sales. Investment income continued to grow and was up by £32k 
to £720k (2016: £668k).

The improved income performance has allowed the Charity to 
increase the resources spent on core missional activities. Spending 
on charitable activities was up by £2.3m to £16.2m (2016: £13.9m). 
The full-year impact on expenditure of the Jireh programme was 
£0.8m and the Charity also increased spending in its international 
grant giving programme by £0.6m to £4.0m (2016: £3.4m). The 
Charity took the opportunity to carry out a review of its trading 
subsidiary and consequently decided to divest its Exhibitions 
business for a consideration of £10k as it was deemed a non-core 
activity. Staffing levels were similar to prior year with full time 
equivalent staff of 118 employees for the year (2016: 119).  

Non-cash items had a significant impact on performance with 
£2.2m net gains from investments and the recognition of a £1m 
remeasurement loss in the Charity’s defined pension benefit 
scheme (prior year of £1.3m), reflecting changes in the investment 
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assumptions used. Of the Charity’s net assets of £24.0m (2016: 
£22.2m), permanently endowed investments make up £12.3m 
(2016: £11.0m) of the total. Income from investments increased 
slightly, and thanks to favourable market conditions the net assets 
of our unrestricted and endowment funds rose by £0.9m and 
£1.2m respectively - this contrasts to losses in the prior year of 
£0.4m and £0.5m respectively. The loss recognised on the defined 
pension benefit scheme of £1.0m follows a loss in the prior year 
of £1.3m. This results in the pension reserve deficit increasing to 
£4.6m (2016: £3.7m). The net movement in total funds for the year 
was £1.8m (2016: loss £1.3m).

The Charity has substantial assets in the form of permanent 
endowments of £12.3m (2016: £11.0m) and unrestricted 
investments of £8.2m (2016: £7.3m) with Sarasin, the Charity’s 
Investment Managers. The Charity’s permanent endowment arises 
from a 20% stake in William Leech (Investments) Limited, who aim 
to secure strong financial returns whilst taking into consideration 
Christian principles and ethical considerations in its investment 
policy. In particular, William Leech (Investments) Limited follow 
the guidance of the Church of England Ethical Investment 
Advisory Group in its selection of investments. In turn, the Charity’s 
unrestricted investment follows similar ethical guidelines on its 
investment policy and is consistent with that of the Sarasin & 
Partner Endowment model with the ultimate aim of achieving 
long-term capital and income growth.

The Charity has total funds of £24.0m made up of endowment 
(non-distributable) reserves of £12.4m (2016: £11.0m), restricted 
reserves of £0.3m (£0.5m) and unrestricted funds of £16.0m 
(2016: £14.5m) off-set by the pension reserve of £4.6m. Within 
unrestricted reserves there are designated funds of £6.8m (2016: 
£7.3m) to be utilised for special projects and opportunities. In the 
current financial year £200k has been set aside from an exceptional 
legacy of £370k for infrastructure projects in the Middle East.  
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In line with our Reserves Policy the Charity has 8 months of 
reserves as at 31 March 2017 and aims over the coming financial 
year in maintaining a prudent approach concerning its operational 
performance with the view of expending its resources on core 
activities and special opportunities as they arise. The Charity 
actively aims to mitigate risk factors through its everyday 
management of operations and has a number of committees 
reviewing items in a rolling programme of internal review. Over the 
last year, amongst other items, investment policy, reserves, foreign 
exchange, staff remuneration, pension provisions, publishing 
rights, copyright, technology and IT security have been reviewed in 
detail and the Charity will continue to monitor key risk items over 
the coming year.
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Trustees, advisors and 
administrative details
The Board of Trustees includes the Chief Executive. A minimum 
of 40 per cent and a maximum of 60 per cent of Trustees must be 
members of the Anglican Church.

A Nominations Committee, with a majority of non-Trustee 
members, has been established for the purpose of identifying 
and then recommending suitable Trustee candidates. Trustees 
are appointed for a three-year term and may be re-appointed 
for up to a further two terms. Trustees who have served for three 
consecutive three-year terms may not be re-appointed for at least 
a year from the conclusion of their term in office. Trustees are 
appointed on the basis of their skills, experience, time availability 
and the general contribution which they are able to make to the 
work of Bible Society. New Trustees are inducted in the extent of 
Bible Society’s activities and their responsibilities.

During the year, various aspects of the activities are presented 
to the Trustees so they continue to gain a more comprehensive 
appreciation of them. The Trustees meet routinely four times a 
year. Two of the meetings are residential over two days. Additional 
meetings of the Trustees can occur when there is a need to 
consider a specific item of business that has arisen between the 
regular meetings.



54

Patron
Her Majesty the Queen

President
Rt Revd & Rt Hon Richard Chartres

Vice-Presidents
Lord David Alton
Baroness Sal Brinton
Revd Joel Edwards
Professor David Ford
Revd Stephen Gaukroger
Most Revd Dr Barry Morgan (retired 

October 2016)
Cardinal Vincent Nichols
Most Revd & Rt Hon Dr John Sentamu
Baroness Maeve Sherlock
Mr David Suchet

Chair
Mr James Featherby

Deputy Chair
Dr Olubunmi Olayisade

Treasurer
Mr Peter Muir (until February 2017)
Mr Paul Bosson (from February 2017)

Chief Executive
Professor Paul Williams (from September 

2016)

Interim Chief Executive
Mr Paul Woolley (until September 2016)

Deputy Chief Executive
Mr Paul Woolley (from September 2016)

Other Trustees
Mr Paul Chandler 
Mr Ian Dighé

Mr Alan Eccles
Mr John Griffiths (until July 2017)
Mrs Sue Heatherington
Mr Arfon Jones
Mr Peter Muir (until July 2017)
Mrs Catherine Pepinster
Mrs Christina Rees
Colonel Richard Sandy

Leadership Team
Mrs Julie Fletcher (until November 2016)
Dr Paula Gooder (until April 2017)
Mr Derek Hill
Mrs Susan Mears
Mr Oldi Morava (from March 2017)
Mr Matthew van Duyvenbode 
Professor Paul Williams (from September 

2016)
Mr Paul Woolley
Mr Sanjay Ashar (from October 
2016)
Mr Andy Clasper (from January 2017)
Mrs Kate Andrews (from June 2017)

Audit & Finance Committee
Mr Peter Muir (Chair) (until February 

2017)
Mr Paul Bosson (Chair) (from February 

2017)
Mr Paul Chandler
Mr Alan Emery
Mrs Julie Fletcher* (until November 

2016)
Mr Sanjay Ashar (from October 2016)
Mrs Kate Andrews (from June 2017)

Nominations Committee
Mr Ian Dighé (Convenor) 
Revd Dr Martyn Atkins 
Rt Revd Stephen Cottrell
Mr James Featherby
Revd Katei Kirby



55

Dr Olubunmi Olayisade 
Revd Chris Thomas 
Revd Dr Nigel Wright
Professor Paul Williams (from September 

2016)*
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Statement of accounts
Statement of responsibilities of the 
Trustees
The Trustees are required to prepare an annual report and financial 
statements for each financial year in accordance with applicable 
law and the United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice. The Trustees are also required to prepare financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the charity and the incoming resources and application of 
resources, including the net income or expenditure, of the charity 
for the year. In preparing those financial statements, the Trustees 
are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently

•  observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP

•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent

•  state whether applicable accounting standards and 
statements of recommended practice have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements; and

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, 
unless it is inappropriate to presume the charity will continue 
in operation.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the charity and which enable them to ensure 
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that the financial statements comply with the relevant acts and 
standards. The Trustees are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the corporate and financial information included on the charity’s 
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

Each of the Trustees confirms that, to the best of his/her 
knowledge, there is no information relevant to the audit of which 
the auditors are unaware. Each of the Trustees also confirms that 
he/she has taken all necessary steps to ensure that he/she is aware 
of all relevant audit information and that this information has been 
communicated to the auditors.

Auditors
A resolution will be proposed at the July Trustees meeting that 
Monahans be reappointed as auditors to the charity for the 
ensuing year.

Approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by:

James Featherby 
Chair of the Board of Trustees
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
Trustees of the British and Foreign 
Bible Society
We have audited the financial statements of the British and Foreign 
Bible Society for the year ended 31 March 2017 which comprise 
the Group Statement of Financial Activities, the Group and the 
Parent Charity Balance Sheet, the Group and the Parent Charity 
Cash Flow Statement and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the charity’s Trustees, as a body, 
in accordance with regulations made under section 154 of the 
Charities Act 2011. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the charity’s Trustees those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity’s 
Trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Trustees 
and auditor
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ Responsibilities Statement, 
the Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view.

We have been appointed auditor under section 151 of the Charities 
Act 2011 and report in accordance with regulations made under 
section 154 of that Act. Our responsibility is to audit and express an 
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opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
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Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate 
to the group’s and parent charity’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by the Trustees; and 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, 
we read all the financial and non-financial information in the 
Trustees’ Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with 
the audited financial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of 
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for 
our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the 
parent charity’s affairs as at 31 March 2017, and of the group’s 
incoming resources and application of resources for the year 
then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Charities Act 2011.
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Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Charities Act 2011 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

• the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report is 
inconsistent in any material respect with the financial 
statements; or

• sufficient accounting records have not been kept; or

• the parent charity’s financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

Monahans is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Monahans 
Statutory Auditors 
38-42 Newport Street 
Swindon SN1 3DR
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Group Charity

2017 2016 2017 2016
Total Total Total Total

Note £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 18   - 4   -   - 
Tangible assets 19 4,020 4,313 4,020         4,312
Permanently Endowed Investments 20 12,346 10,958 12,346       10,958
Other Investments including subsidiary undertaking 20 8,604 7,732 9,155         8,283

24,970 23,007 25,522       23,553

Current assets
Stock 21 915 528   -   - 
Debtors 22 1,666 1,570 1,005         663
Investments held for resale 20   - 169   - 169
Cash at bank and in hand 6,127 4,960 5,567 4,450

8,708 7,227 6,572         5,282
Liabilities
Creditors falling due within a year 23 (2,998) (2,218) (1,415) (814)
Creditors - constructive obligation for funding commitments 24 (2,100) (2,100) (2,100) (2,100)

Net Current assets 3,610         2,909         3,057         2,368         

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 25 (4,570) (3,702) (4,570) (3,702)

Net assets 27 24,010 22,214 24,009 22,219

The funds of the group:
Endowment funds

William Leech fund 26 10,604 9,404 10,604       9,404
General purposes permanently endowed fund 26 1,759 1,571 1,759         1,571
Total endowment funds 12,363 10,975 12,363       10,975

Income funds
Restricted funds 26 265 488 265            488

Unrestricted funds
Designated funds 26 6,772 7,324 6,772         7,324
General fund 26 9,180 7,129 9,180         7,134

Unrestricted funds excluding pension reserve 26 15,952 14,453 15,952       14,458
Pension reserve 25 (4,570) (3,702) (4,570) (3,702)

Total unrestricted funds 11,382 10,751 11,382       10,756

Total funds 24,010       22,214 24,010       22,219

Approved by the Board of Trustees on 14 July 2017 and signed on its behalf by:-

James Featherby, Chairman

The Trustees have prepared group accounts in accordance with Section 398 of the Companies Act 2006 and section 138 of the Charities Act 
2011. The notes form part of these financial statements.

 THE BRITISH AND FOREIGN BIBLE SOCIETY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET at 31 March 2017
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Group Charity

2017 2016 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Note
Net cash generated by operating activities A 250 130 202 546

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends and interest received from investments 720 688 720 688
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (102) (204) (102) (204)
Purchase of fixed asset investments (190) (180) (190) (180)
Proceeds from sale of investments 55 40 55 40
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 49 7 49 7
Proceeds from sale of investment property 195   - 195   - 
Net cash used in investing activities 727 351 726 351

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipt of endowment 190 180 190 180
Net cash used in financing activities 190 180 190 180

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year 1,167 661 1,117 1,077

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4,960 4,299 4,450 3,373

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6,127          4,960          5,567          4,450          

Notes to the cash flow statement

A Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) to net cash inflow from operating activities

Net income/ (expenditure) for the year 2,782 334 2,777 325
Add back depreciation charge 346 325 345 324
Add back amortisation of intangibles 2 4   -   - 
Deduct investment income shown in investment activities (720) (688) (720) (688)
(Gains)/losses on investments (2,151) 948 (2,151) 948
Receipt of endowment (190) (180) (190) (180)
Donation of investment property   - (169)   - (169)
FRS 102 pension adjustments (118) (160) (118) (160)
Decrease/(increase) in stock (386) (336)   -   - 
Decrease/(increase) in debtors (96) 274 (342) 128
(Decrease)/increase in creditors 780 (222) 601 17
Net cash generated by operating activities 250 130 202 546

Statement of Cash Flows and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ending 31 March 2017

THE BRITISH & FOREIGN BIBLE SOCIETY
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in sterling which is the functional currency of the group and rounded to the nearest thousand pound. 

The Trustees consider that there are no material uncertainties about the Charity's ability to continue as a going concern.

1.2. Group Financial Statements

1.3. Income

1.4. Fund accounting

(iv) Donated goods, services and facilities are included in the SOFA at a reasonable estimate of their gross value to the Charity. Assets given for use by
the Charity are recognised as incoming resources and within the relevant fixed asset category of the balance sheet when receivable. Where a gift has
been made in kind but on trust for conversion into cash, the incoming resource is recognised when receivable and an adjustment made to the original
valuation upon subsequent realisation of the gift.

The financial statements have been prepared to give a 'true and fair view' and have departed from the Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 
2008 only to the extent required to provide a 'true and fair view'.  This departure has involved following the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102) issued on 16 July 2014 (as updated through Update Bulletin1 published 2 February 2016) rather than the 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice effective from 1 April 2005 which has since been withdrawn.

General funds are unrestricted funds which are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees in furtherance of the objectives of Bible Society and
which have not been designated for other purposes.

Designated funds comprise of unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the Trustees for particular purposes. The aim and use of each designated
fund is set out in the notes to the accounts.

Restricted funds are donations which the donor has specified are to be solely used for particular areas of the Society's work. The aim and use of each
restricted fund is set out in the notes to the accounts.

Endowment funds are funds which are held subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be maintained as capital. The income earned from these
funds is used for general purposes where allowed or for the specific purposes intended. The aim and use of each endowment fund is set out in the notes
to the accounts.

THE BRITISH AND FOREIGN BIBLE SOCIETY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

(v) Proceeds from the sale of heritage assets are included in the SOFA when it becomes reasonably certain that the proceeds will be received and when 
the value of the incoming resources can be measured with sufficient reliability.

The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements, and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the preparation of financial statements, are as
follows:

The British and Foreign Bible Society (also referred to in this document as 'Bible Society', 'the Society' and 'the Charity') meets the definition of a public
benefit entity under FRS102. Assets and liabilities are initially recorded at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant
accounting policy note(s).

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable
to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102) (effective
1 January 2015) - (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102) and the
Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly-owned subsidiary companies on a line by line basis. A separate Statement
of Financial Activities and Income and Expenditure account for the Charity has not been presented because the Society has taken advantage of the
exemption afforded by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. Summary performance of the Charity is shown in Note 3.

(i) Donations, other income and investment income are included in the Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) when the Charity has entitlement to the 
funds, any performance conditions attached to the items have been met, it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can be 
measured reliably.

(ii) Legacies are included in the SOFA as the earlier of the date on which either: the Charity is aware that probate has been granted, the estate has been
finalised and notification has been made by the executor(s) to the Trust that a distribution is received from the estate. Receipt of a legacy, in whole or
in part, is only considered probable when the amount can be measured reliably and the Charity has been notified of the executor's intention to make a
distribution. Where legacies have been notified to the Charity, or the Charity is aware of the granting of probate, and the criteria for income recognition
have not been met, then the legacy is treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if material.

(iii) Income from charitable activities is included in income in the SOFA and related costs are included in resources expended. Income represents the
value of publications despatched, royalties received and the income accruing from exhibitions taking place during the year.
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THE BRITISH AND FOREIGN BIBLE SOCIETY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.d)

1.5. Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT

   work.

1.6. Allocation of support costs

1.7. Operating leases

1.8. Intangible assets

Goodwill: 5 years
Development costs of computer software: 4 years

1.9. Tangible assets

Asset category Annual rate
Freehold Land - No depreciation.
Freehold Buildings - Swindon - 50 years from 1 January 1986.
Freehold Buildings - London - 100 years from 1 April 2011, revised to 50 years from 1 April 2015.
Freehold Buildings - Wales - 20 years from 1 April 2015
Building Improvements - 20 years 
Computer Hardware and Software - 1 to 4 years.
Other Equipment - 5 years.
Motor Vehicles

Overseas Properties  (2016)

1.10. Investments

All gains and losses are taken to the SOFA.

1.11. Stock

Support costs are those functions that assist in the work of the Charity but do not directly undertake charitable activities. Support costs include
information technology, budgeting and accounting, personnel, building management and maintenance services and governance costs which support the
Society's programmes and activities. These costs have been allocated between the cost of raising funds and expenditure on charitable activities based
on the headcount engaged in each activity.

Irrecoverable VAT has been charged against the cost of raising funds. 

The Charity classifies the lease of printing equipment as operating leases; the title of the equipment remains with the lessor and the equipment is
replaced every three years whilst the economic life of such equipment is normally 10 years. Rental charges are charged on a straight line basis over the
term of the lease.

If there is indication that there has been a significant change in amortisation rate or residual value of an asset, the amortisation of that asset is revised 
prospectively to reflect the new expectations.

Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition, as follows:
 - Goods for resale at purchase cost on an average prime cost basis
 - Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to complete and sell.

- These are made available to the Bible Societies in the countries concerned. In the opinion of the 
Trustees, these properties have no recoverable value to Bible Society and the cost has been depreciated 
to a nominal value of £0 each in the Balance Sheet. 

 - Expenditure on charitable activities includes the cost of making the Bible available, accessible and credible, plus the cost of educating the public about 
 -  Cost of raising funds comprise fundraising costs and fees payable to investment managers.

Bible Society's properties in Swindon and London serve mixed use, being mainly used for the Society's charitable purposes, with space which is surplus
to current requirements being rented to tenants. For the Swindon property, the Society has been unable to ascertain the fair value of the investment
component reliably, without undue cost or effort. As such, the entire property has been accounted for as a property within tangible fixed assets. For
the London property, one floor is currently rented to external tenants and 20% of the property has been treated as an investment property, with the
remaining 80% accounted for within tangible fixed assets.

Investments are shown in the Balance Sheet at market value. The value of the unlisted investment in William Leech (Investments) Limited has been
based on the net asset value shown in that company's most recent set of accounts which are subject to audit.

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after making due allowance for obsolete and slow moving items. 

Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated losses.  Amortisation is charged so as to allocate the cost of 
intangibles less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method.  The intangible assets are amortised over the 
following useful economic lives:

Individual fixed assets costing less than £500 are written down fully in the year of acquisition whilst those costing £500 or more are capitalised and
shown at cost including any incidental expenses of acquisition. Depreciation is charged to the SOFA on a straight line basis to spread the historical cost
of an asset over its estimated useful life. Assets are grouped into categories and depreciation charged as follows:

- Over the estimated useful life of each vehicle (but only down to their estimated realisable value) with a
maximum of 4 years.

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third party, it is probable that settlement will be
required and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.  Expenditure is classified under the following activity headings:
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THE BRITISH AND FOREIGN BIBLE SOCIETY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.d)

1.12. Product and event development costs

1.13. Heritage assets

1.14. Debtors

1.15. Cash at bank and in hand

1.16. Creditors and provisions

1.17. Financial instruments

1.18. Foreign exchange

1.19. Pensions

Defined contribution section:

Defined benefits section:

1.20. Redundancy / termination payments

2 Legal Status of the Society

The Society only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially
recorded at transaction value and subsequently measured at their settlement value.

The Society is a charity limited by incorporation under Royal Charter and has no share capital. 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. However, in the consolidated financial statements exchange 
differences arising on monetary items that form part of the net investment in a foreign operation are recognised in other comprehensive income and are 
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Termination benefits are measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date.  If the expected 
settlement date of the termination payments is 12 months or more after making the provision and the effect would be material, the present value of 
the obligation is calculated using an appropriate discount rate.

The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of Bible Society in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge represents
contributions payable by Bible Society to the fund and amounted to £510,862 (2016: £545,335). The costs of the defined contribution arrangements
are charged as incurred.

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of three months or less from the date of
acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid
net of any trade discounts due.  Debtors are reviewed periodically and provisions are made when payment is deemed unlikely.

Heritage assets are not recognised on the Balance Sheet. This is because the Trustees consider that obtaining reliable valuations for these would
involve disproportionate cost, due to the number of items and the lack of comparable market values.

In preparing the financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the spot rate at the dates of the transactions, or at an average rate where this rate approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.  

The expected costs of providing pensions under the defined benefit scheme, as calculated periodically by professionally-qualified actuaries, are charged
to the SOFA so as to spread the cost over the service life of the employees. 

Bible Society Resources Limited develops products for sale and until October 2016 also ran events. The preparation and development costs for such
activities are written off in the year of the event, or over the life of the product, unless their recovery is not reasonably assured. Costs for which
recovery is not reasonably assured are written off as they are identified. Income received in advance of the event or the launch of the product is
likewise matched to the period of the event or product launch and treated as deferred income until that time.

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the Society has a present obligation resulting from a past event that will probably result in the transfer of
funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally
recognised at their settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts.

Bible Society operates a contributory defined benefits pension scheme, known as the British and Foreign Bible Society 1972 Pension Scheme, for the
benefit of its employees and some employees of United Bible Societies (UBS) employed in the UK. With effect from 1 October 2003, the scheme
Trustees opened a new defined contribution section of the scheme and closed the existing defined benefits section to new members and to future
accruals. Both Bible Society and UBS make contributions in respect of their members following the calculation of the actuaries. Following the triennial
valuation at 1 April 2015, the Trustees of the scheme have accepted that the liability for funding the defined benefit section can be divided on the
basis of 73% to Bible Society and 27% to UBS. With the advent of auto enrolment, staff with less than six months service and those employed on a
casual basis are enrolled in a separate scheme administered through NEST.
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THE BRITISH AND FOREIGN BIBLE SOCIETY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

3 Financial Performance of the Charity

The summary financial performance of the Charity alone is: 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Income 12,901 12,451
Gift aid from subsidiary company 214   - 

13,115 12,451
Expenditure on charitable activities (12,489) (11,177)
Net gains/(losses) on investments 2,151 (948)
Impairment of Bible Society Resources Limited   - (649)
Net income 2,777 (323)

Actuarial losses (986) (1,328)
Funds transferred to United Bible Societies   - (291)
Total funds brought forward 22,219 24,161
Total funds carried forward 24,010 22,219

Represented by:
Permanent endowed funds 12,363 10,975
Restricted funds 265 488
Designated funds 6,772 7,324
General funds 9,181 7,134
Pension reserve (4,570) (3,702)

24,010 22,219

4 Income from donations and legacies 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Donations 9,112 8,762
Legacies 2,722 2,682

11,834 11,444

5 Income from charitable activities 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Income from Bible trading (publishing and sales) 6,216 5,112
Income from exhibitions 474 637
Less: inter company income (54) (54)
Total income from publishing and exhibitions 6,636 5,695

Income from property rental and related services 194 196
Income from research and other consultancy 120 62
Income from events and other sundry income 34 61
Total income from other trading activities 347 319

6 Investment income 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

 - Returns on permanently endowed and unrestricted investments 709 676
 - Interest earned on unrestricted deposit accounts 11 12

720 688

The Group's investment income arises as follows:

The consolidated statement of financial activities includes the results of the Charity's wholly owned subsidiary, Bible Society Resources Limited. This
operates through commissioning print runs of Bibles to service the Charity's Bible needs and those of Bible Societies around the world. It sells Bibles in
the UK, controls royalty payments and until October 2016, operated an events business, trading as Christian Resources Exhibitions.

The Society benefits greatly from the involvement and enthusiastic support of its many volunteers, details of which are given in our annual report.  In 
accordance with FRS102 and the Charities SORP (FRS102), the economic contribution of volunteers is not recognised in the accounts.  There was no 
donation income in the form of investment property in the current year (2016: £169,000) and there were £89,564 of donations in kind (2016: 
£44,566).
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THE BRITISH AND FOREIGN BIBLE SOCIETY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

7 Sale of heritage assets

Bible Society's heritage assets comprise:
 - a historic printed Bible collection;
 - a deposit library for new Bibles;
 - a collection of paintings and other artefacts, including 500 manuscripts;
 - the Society's own historic archives.

8 Cost of raising funds
2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Direct costs 2,199                2,389
Support and governance costs 355                   438
Irrecoverable VAT 135                   134
Investment managers' fees 45                     50

2,734 3,010

Bible Society occasionally disposes of items where new duplicate materials are identified or where materials are not a core part of the printed Bible
collection. During the year ended 31 March 2017 there were no proceeds from the sale of heritage assets (2016: Nil). 

These have been collected over the 212 years of Bible Society's life and have been acquired by donation, exchange of publications with other societies,
or through the occasional purchase.

The Trustees consider that obtaining reliable valuations for the collection would involve disproportionate cost. This is because of the number of items in
the collection and the lack of comparable market values. The printed Bible collection and the paintings and other artefacts, including manuscripts, were
valued on 5 July 2012 for insurance purposes at £12 million to £20 million. Owing to sales of some of the manuscripts, the remaining collection would
be valued at £11 million to £18 million. 

The collection is housed in Cambridge University Library and items are available for viewing by any reader of the library, upon request. The Bible
collection is fully catalogued. 

The printed Bible collection comprises around 35,000 Bibles and books in many of the world's languages. This includes items of historical importance,
such as copies of the first edition (1611) of the King James Bible and the Welsh Bible received and signed by Mary Jones. It is also a living and growing
collection, receiving deposits of first editions of new Bibles published around the world.
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9 Grants Payable
2017 2016

International grants No. of grants £'000 £'000 

Africa 8 96 134
China 2 82 335
Middle East 6 49 16
Other translation projects 20 693 319
Total translation grants 36 920 804

Africa 22 154 230
China 5 603 179
Middle East 12 169 108
Other production and distribution grants 13 124 291
Total production and distribution grants 52 1,050 808

Africa 12 95 86
China 1 69 6
Middle East 6 48 65
Providing Bible Society presence in other countries 17 203 459
Total capacity building grants 36 415 616

Africa 7 94 58
China 2 75 17
Other literacy projects 3 30 65
Total literacy grants 12 199 140

Africa 25 326 216
China 8 210 56
Middle East 24 297 205
Other advocacy grants 43 618 545
Total engagement and advocacy grants 100 1,451 1,022

Total international grants 236 4,035 3,390

National grants
Cross Ref-it   -   - 46
Cambridge University Library 1 40 33
Bibles to prisons, immigration centres, colleges 104 44 29
Other national grants 24 74 151
Total national grants 129 158 259

Total grants 365 4,193 3,649

Applied to Charitable Activities as follows (Note 10):-

Making the Bible available 2,408 2,278
Making the Bible accessible 204 298
Demonstrating the Bible's credibility 1,581 1,073

4,193 3,649

(a) Bible Society is part of the United Bible Societies (UBS) network of 146 national Bible Societies.
All grants are payable to institutions.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017
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10 Analysis of expenditure on charitable activities
National International

programme programme 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Making the Bible available
Grants 23 2,385 2,408                2,278
Operating costs of charitable activities 377 5,640 6,017                4,994
Direct costs 134 235 369                   248
Support and governance costs 13 70 83                     88

547 8,330 8,877                7,608

Making the Bible accessible
Grants 5 199 204                   298
Direct costs 2,032 188 2,220                1,855
Support and governance costs 318 51 369                   383

2,355 438 2,793                2,536

Demonstrating the Bible's credibility
Grants 130 1,451 1,581                1,073
Operating costs of charitable activities 462   - 462                   554
Direct costs 600 243 843                   768
Support and governance costs 142 53 195                   230

1,334 1,747 3,081                2,625

Educating the public
Operating costs of charitable activities 115   - 115                   138
Direct costs 1,170   - 1,170                794
Support and governance costs 136   - 136                   153

1,421   - 1,421                1,085

5,657 10,515 16,172              13,854

2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Translation 920                   804
Production and Distribution 7,542                6,188
Capacity Building 415                   616

8,877                7,608

Making the Bible Accessible relates to the following stages of the life cycle of the Bible
Literacy 199                   186
Engagement 2,594                2,350

2,793                2,536

Making the Bible Credible relates to the following stages of the life cycle of the Bible
Advocacy 3,081                2,625                

Making the Bible available relates to the following stages of the life cycle of the Bible

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017
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11 Summary analysis of expenditure and related income for charitable activities: publishing and exhibitions

Bible
Trading Exhibitions Inter Co 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost of sales 4,938           372               (54) 5,256 4,501
Grants paid 107              -                -                  107 108
Project costs 32                -                -                  32 37
Direct internal costs 435              171               -                  606 862
Support costs 343              34                 -                  377 178
Corporation tax 2                  2   - 
Gift Aid payment to Bible Society 214              -                -                  214   - 
Operating costs of charitable activities 6,071           577               (54) 6,594 5,686

Sales and royalties receivable 6,216           474               (54) 6,636 5,695
Trading surplus/(deficit) 145              (103) -                  42 9

Analysis of trading surplus/(deficit):-
National (49) (69)
International 91 78
Trading - Group 42 9

Operating costs of charitable activities (including support costs) are included in expenditure on charitable activities as follows (Note 10):

Bible
trading Exhibitions 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Making the Bible available 6,017   - 6,017 4,994
Demonstrating the Bible's credibility   - 462 462 554
Educating the public   - 115 115 138

6,017 577 6,594 5,686

The net gain on foreign currency transactions charged to the SOFA was £18,584 (2016: net loss of £4,998).

12 Analysis of governance and support costs

Estates IT HR Finance Governance 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Operating costs of charitable activities 125 97 81 50 25 378
Raising funds 117 91 76 47 23 354
Bible availability 27 21 18 11 5 82
Bible accessibility 122 95 79 49 24 369
Bible credibility 65 50 42 26 13 196
Educating the public 45 35 29 18 9 136

501 389 325 201 99 1,515

Estates IT HR Finance Governance 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Operating costs of charitable activities 57 48 42 20 11 178
Raising funds 141 117 103 50 27 438
Bible availability 28 24 21 10 5 88
Bible accessibility 124 102 90 44 23 383
Bible credibility 75 62 54 26 14 231
Educating the public 49 41 36 17 9 152

474 394 346 167 89 1,470

All support costs are apportioned to activity based on the headcount engaged in that activity.

The Society initially identifies the costs of its support functions. It then identifies those costs which relate to the governance function. Having identified 
its governance costs, the remaining support costs together with the governance costs are apportioned between the main charitable activities 
undertaken (see note 10) in the year, as well as to the cost of raising funds. Costs are apportioned to activity based on the headcount engaged in that 
activity.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

The table shows the cost of the main charitable activities operated through Bible Society Resources Limited and the sources of income relating to these.
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12 Analysis of governance and support costs (cont'd)

Governance costs 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Auditors' remuneration
 - External audit 28 25
 - Taxation advisory and corporate finance services   - 3
 - Other services 5 1

33 29
Other governance costs
 - Internal audit   - 6
 - Other direct internal costs 66 54

99 89

13 Net income/(expenditure) 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

This is stated after charging:
Operating leases - equipment 14 12
Depreciation 346 325
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 39 11

14 Analysis of staff costs, Trustee remuneration and expenses, and the cost of key management personnel 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Gross salaries and benefits in kind 3,834 3,653
Social security costs 374 347
Pension costs - defined contribution 511 545
Pension costs - defined benefit 444 402

5,163 4,947

The following number of employees received emoluments within the bands shown, in excess of £60,000:-
2017 2016

Number Number

£60,000-£69,999   -   - 
£70,000-£79,999 1   - 
£80,000-£89,999   -   - 
£100,000-£109,999   -   - 
£130,000-£139,999   - 1

Five members of staff were made redundant during the year at a cost of £31,873 as a result of the disposal of Exhibitions, which was a trading division 
within Bible Society Resources Limited (fully owned subsidiary of The British and Foreign Bible Society).    

Bible Society's new Chief Executive, Paul Williams, commenced his role on 19 September 2016 with an annualised emolument of £101,000. For the year
ended 31 March 2017, the Chief Executive received total remuneration of £54,637 including a pension contribution of £253. There are no other
benefits included in the Chief Executive's remuneration package.

The key management personnel of the parent charity, Bible Society, and of the group, comprise the Trustees, the Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief 
Executive, the Director of Finance, the Enterprise Director and the Director: People.  The total remuneration of the key management personnel of the 
Society, inclusive of benefits, employers national insurance, but excluding pension contributions was £387,381 (2016: £391,757).  In addition, pension 
contributions of £58,850 were paid into Bible Society's defined contribution scheme on behalf of these personnel (2016: £113,879).

Normally, Bible Society's Trustees receive no remuneration for their services as Trustees. Travel, subsistence and accommodation expenses incurred on
behalf of Bible Society during 2017 were £12,367 for 14 Trustees (2016: £26,956 for 13 Trustees). Bible Society's Chief Executive who, under the
terms of the Royal Charter, is also a Trustee, is deemed by the Board of Trustees to have incurred expenses in discharging his duties as Chief Executive
rather than a Trustee.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

The number of current staff to whom retirement benefits are accruing under the defined benefit scheme is 15 (2016: 16), while 102 staff are members
of the defined contribution scheme (2016: 112). 

No ex gratia payments were made in the year (2016: none).  

During the year, the Society received donations of £3,398 (2016: £10,046) from the Trustees. All donations were received for general purposes.

Pension costs are allocated to activities in proportion to the related staffing costs incurred and are charged as applicable to unrestricted or restricted 
funds.
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15 Staff Numbers

The average number of persons employed, including part-time staff, calculated on an actual and a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis, analysed by 
activity was:-

2017 2016 2017 2016
Number Number Number Number

Charitable activities:-
Making the Bible available 23 22 24 24
Making the Bible accessible 35 34 39 37
Demonstrating the Bible's credibility 19 21 20 23
Educating the public 11 10 12 12

88 87 95 96
Other activities:-
Raising funds 29 31 34 35
Governance 1 1 1 1

118 119 130 132

16 Related party transactions

17 Corporation Tax

18 Intangible assets
Goodwill Computer Total Total

Software 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost at 1 April 2016 692 13 705 705
Amortisation at 1 April 2016 (692) (9) (701) (697)
Cost of disposals (692) (13) (705)   - 
Amortisation charge   - (2) (2) (4)
Amortisation on disposals 692 10 702   - 
Net book value at 31 March 2017   -   -   - 4

19 Tangible assets
Freehold 

land, Computers
buildings and and other Motor  

Group improvements equipment vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost at 1 April 2016 6,807 1,282 51 8,140
Additions 16 86   - 102
Disposals (17) (30) (38) (85)
Cost at 31 March 2017 6,806 1,338 13 8,157                

Depreciation at 1 April 2016 (2,692) (1,113) (21) (3,826)
Charge (249) (94) (3) (346)
Disposals   - 25 11 36
Depreciation at 31 March 2017 (2,941) (1,182) (13) (4,136)

Net book value at 31 March 2016 4,115 168 30 4,313

Net book value at 31 March 2017 3,865 156   - 4,020

There were no related party transactions for the year ended 31 March 2017 nor for the year ended 31 March 2016. See note 14 for details of
donations from trustees and key management personnel remuneration.

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of Resources Exhibitions Limited, now trading as a division of within Bible Society Resources Limited and referred
to as the Exhibitions business. This was sold for a goodwill consideration of £10,000 during the financial year. 

The Charity is exempt from tax on income and gains falling within section 505 of the Taxes Act 1988 or section 252 of the Taxation of Chargeable 
Gains Act 1992 to the extent that these are applied to its charitable objects.

The Charity enjoys a close working relationship with the United Bible Societies, which is a Charity, to whom all of the international grants are made, and 
through whom, controls over expenditure of such monies are operated.  The total value of grants given in the year of £4,035,000 is shown in note 9. 

     Actual Headcount

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

      FTE
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19 Tangible assets (cont.d)
Freehold Computers

land, (incl software)
buildings and and other Motor  

improvements equipment vehicles Total
Charity £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost at 1 April 2016 6,807 1,207 51 8,064
Additions 16 86   - 102
Disposals (17) (30) (38) (85)
Cost at 31 March 2017 6,806 1,263 13 8,082

                                                                                          
Depreciation at 1 April 2016 (2,692) (1,040) (21) (3,753)
Charge (248) (94) (3) (345)
Disposals   - 25 11 36
Depreciation at 31 March 2017 (2,940) (1,109) (13) (4,062)

Net book value at 31 March 2016 4,115 167 30 4,312

Net book value at 31 March 2017 3,866 154   - 4,020

Included in the cost of freehold land, buildings and improvements is freehold land of £708,819 (2016: £708,819) which is not depreciated.

Bible Society's properties in Swindon and London serve mixed use, being mainly used for the Society's charitable purposes, with space which is surplus
to current requirements being rented to tenants. For the Swindon property, the Society has been unable to ascertain the fair value of the investment
component reliably, without undue cost or effort. As such, the entire property has been accounted for as a property within tangible fixed assets. For
the London property, one floor is currently rented to external tenants and 20% of the property has therefore been treated as an investment property,
with the remaining 80% accounted for within tangible fixed assets.

An external insurance valuation of the Society's Welsh property was conducted at 31 March 2015. This valued the property at £2,400,000. At 31
March 2015, an external valuation of the London property was conducted, which valued this property in the region of £2,350,000, based on vacant
possession and £2,090,000 based on investment purposes. At 31 March 2015, a valuation was done of the Society's property at Swindon. This valued
the property in the region of £3,000,000. In the opinion of the Trustees, there has been no significant movement in these values since these times.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

The cost of 5 (2016: 5) overseas properties at £40,678 (2016: £40,678) has also been included, but that cost has been depreciated fully. See Note
1.10.
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20 Investments 2017 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 

Market value at 1 April 18,690 19,789
Purchases - listed investments   -   - 
Purchases - shares in William Leech (Investments) Limited 190 180
Cash drawdown (incl payment of management fees) (55) (40)
Gift/(sale) of property (26)   - 
Transfer to United Bible Societies   - (291)
Net investment gains/(losses) 2,151 (948)
Market value at 31 March - Group 20,950 18,690
Shares in Bible Society Resources Limited at 1 April 551
Impairment   - 
Shares in Bible Society Resources Limited at 31 Mar 551 551
Market value at 31 March  - Charity 21,501 19,241

The market value at 31 March represents:
Unlisted permanently endowed investments - William Leech (Investments) Limited 10,604 9,404
Listed investments - permanently endowed 1,742 1,554
Total of permanently endowed investments 12,346 10,958
Other listed investments 8,186 7,301
Investment in property 418 418
Other unlisted investments   - 13
Market value at 31 March - Group 20,950 18,690
Shares in Bible Society Resources Limited 551 551
  Permanently Endowed Investments 12,346
  Other listed and unlisted investments, including in subsidiary undertaking 9,155

Market value at 31 March  - Charity 21,501 19,241

Current assets held for resale
Value at Beginning of Year 169   - 
Disposal proceeds (200)   - 
Cost of disposal 5   - 
Gain on disposal 26   - 
Investment in property   - 169

Bible Society's investment in its subsidiaries at 31 March 2017 was as follows:-

(a) Bible Society Resources Limited:-
Country of incorporation: England and Wales.

Class of shares: Ordinary.
Holding: 100%.
Cost of investment: £551,049.

2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Aggregate capital and reserves 551 546
Turnover for the year 6,690 5,749
Profit/(loss) for the year after tax 5 9

The operating profit for the year was £6,826 (2016: profit of £8,880).  A gift aid payment of £214,000 was made to the Society for the year ending 
31 March 2017.  There was a final profit after tax of £4,580.

The unlisted permanently endowed funds comprise 6,266,000 (2016: 6,076,000) ordinary shares of £1 in William Leech (Investments) Limited,
representing 20% of the issued capital. The draft accounts (subject to audit) at its year end of 31 March 2017 show consolidated capital and reserves
of £53,021,450 (2016: £48,073,159). Bible Society nominates a member for the board, but cannot exert significant influence over the company. Paul
Chandler, one of Bible Society's Trustees, is an independent director of the company and is Chair of its board, but he does not act as a representative of
Bible Society on the Leech board.

Listed investments are carried at their fair value.  These investments comprise equities and fixed interest securities which are quoted in public markets, 
in the UK and overseas. Holdings in common investment funds are valued at the bid price.  Asset sales and purchases are recognised at the date of 
trade at cost (that is their transaction value).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

The Bible Society had two investment properties at the beginning of the year.  Classified within long-term investments is 20% (or one floor) of the 
Society's London based property which is currently surplus to the Society's immediate requirements and is being let to external tenants. This property 
was valued at 31 March 2015 by an independent professionally-qualified valuer.  In the opinion of the Trustees, there has been no significant movement 
in this value since this time. Another property generously donated in the prior year and held within current assets was sold during the year and a surplus 
of £25,501 has been recognised on the disposal of the asset.

Nature of business: Production and distribution of Bibles and other related products 
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20 Investments (cont.d)

Dormant companies

(b) Christian Research Association
(c) Christian Booksellers Convention Limited
(d)  Incorporated British and Foreign Bible Society Association
(e) Open the Book

21 Stock
Group

2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Bible Publishing products 106 138
Finished goods held at other Bible Societies around the world as part of the Jireh programme 809 390
Total stock 915 528

The amount of stock recognised as an expense during the year was £4,791,133 (2016: £3,970,779)

22 Debtors
Group Charity

2017 2016 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Trade debtors 567               548 5 10
Amounts due from subsidiary company   -   - 726 324
VAT recoverable 63                 22 (7) (10)
Sundry debtors 638               566 281 256
United Bible Societies transactions account 399               433   - 82

1,666            1,570 1,005 663

23 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Group Charity

2017 2016 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Trade creditors 1,705 960 487 129
Sundry creditors and accrued charges 1,293 1,258 928 685

2,998 2,218 1,415 814

24 Creditors constructive obligation for funding commitments
2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Grants to United Bible Societies projects - at 1 April 2,100 2,100
Paid in the year (2,800) (2,800)
Pledged in the year 2,800 2,800
At 31 March 2,100 2,100

The significance of financial instruments to the ongoing financial sustainability of the charity is considered in the financial review and investment policy
performance sections of the Trustees' Annual Report.

Bible Society has given an indemnity to the International British and Foreign Bible Society Association (IBFBSA) such that Bible Society will cover all
costs and expenses in relation to properties owned by IBFBSA which are held in trust for Bible Society, United Bible Societies and other Bible Societies
around the world.

The Charity manages investment risks by retaining expert advisors and operating an investment policy that provides for a degree of diversification of
holdings within investment asset classes that are quoted on recognised stock exchanges. The investment managers also act within ethical policies
agreed with the Charity. Ranges have been set for the percentage of holdings which may be held in any one asset class. After discussion with
Investment Managers, Sarasin, the Trustees agreed that the Alpha CIF for endowments meets the Charity's investment criteria, including its ethical
investment needs. Assets are held within this scheme. Meetings with investment managers are held every six months, with reports received on a
monthly basis. Please refer to the risk section of the Trustees' Annual Report for information on how risks are managed.

In 2016 there was £335,139 included in sundry creditors and accrued charges in relation to deferred income received in advance for exhibitions held 
post year end.  In 2017 there is no deferred income as all exhibitions have been finalised.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

Bible Society pledges to make grants totalling a certain amount to the United Bible Societies each year. This is agreed on a calendar year basis in the
preceding year and the Trustees consider that provision should be made for the balance of the grant agreed for the period 1 April to 31 December
2017.

There is a cross guarantee agreement in place between Bible Society and its trading subsidiary to secure their overdraft. At 31 March 2017, neither
Bible Society nor its trading subsidiary was in an overdrawn position.
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25 Defined benefit pension scheme liability

31 March 31 March
2017 2016

Discount rate 2.8% 3.8%
Inflation assumption (RPI) 3.4% 3.1%
Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.4% 2.1%
Fixed 3% pension increases 3.0% 3.0%
RPI min 3% max 5% pension increases 3.6% 3.5%
Revaluation in deferment 2.1% 2.1%

Mortality assumption
1.00% 1.3%

Tax free cash taken - as % of maximum 25.0% 25.0%

The contributions made by Bible Society during the year amounted to £444,000 (2016: £402,000).

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:- 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Fair value of assets 17,798 15,839
Present value of funded obligations (22,368) (19,541)
(Deficit) (4,570) (3,702)
Impact of asset ceiling   -   - 
Net defined benefit liability at 31 March 2016 (4,570) (3,702)

The amounts recognised in the SOFA over the year:- 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Administration costs 190 155
Interest on liabilities 730 684
Interest on assets (594) (597)

326 242

Remeasurements over the year 2017 2015
£'000 £'000 

Loss (gain) on scheme assets in excess of interest (1,787) 1,052
Experience losses (gains) on liabilities (378) 474
Losses (gains) from changes to demographic assumptions (565) 408
Losses (gains) from changes to financial assumptions 3,716 (606)
Changes in effect of asset ceiling   -   - 
Total remeasurements 986 1,328

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

The British and Foreign Bible Society (the Employer) operates a defined benefit pension arrangement called the British and Foreign Bible Society 1972
Pension Scheme (the Scheme). The Scheme provides benefits based on final salary and length of service on retirement, leaving service or death. The
following disclosure excludes any allowance for the defined contribution section of the scheme or any other schemes operated by the Employer.

The most recent comprehensive actuarial valuation of the Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2015.  The results of that valuation were updated by 
an independent qualified actuary to 31 March 2017 allowing for cashflows in and out of the Scheme and changes to assumptions over the period.

100% of S1NxA tables with the CMI 
2015 projection model and a long 

term rate of improvement of:

The Scheme is subject to the Statutory Funding Objective under the Pensions Act 2004. A valuation of the Scheme is carried out at least once every 
three years to determine whether the Statutory Funding Objective is met. As part of the process, the Employer must agree with the trustees of the 
Scheme the contributions to be paid to address any shortfall against the Statutory Funding Objective.
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25 Defined benefit pension scheme liability (cont.d)

Reconciliation of assets and Defined Benefit Obligation 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

The change in the Defined Benefit Obligation over the period was:
Defined Benefit Obligation at the beginning of the period:- 19,541 19,412
Interest cost 730 684
Benefits paid (676) (831)
Experience (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation (378) 474
Changes to demographic assumptions (565) 408
Changes to financial assumptions 3,716 (606)

22,368 19,541

The change in the assets over the period was: 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 

Opening fair value of scheme assets 15,839 16,878
Interest on assets 594 597
Employer contributions 444 402
Benefits paid (676) (831)
Administration costs (190) (155)
Return on plan assets less interest 1,787 (1,052)

17,798 15,839

The major categories of assets as a percentage of total assets are as follows:- 2017

Equities 25.0%
Bonds 49.0%
Cash 1.0%
Other assets (including diversified growth funds) 25.0%

100.0%

The return on the assets over the period was £2,381,000.  The assets do not include any investment in shares or property of the Employer.

2018
Administration costs 196
Interest on liabilities 617
Interest on assets (492)
Total 321

26 Analysis of charitable funds

Analysis of movements in endowment funds
1 April Incoming Gains/(losses) 31 March
2016 resources and invmt fees Expenditure 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

William Leech (Note a) 9,404 190 1,010   - 10,604
General purposes permanent endowed 1,571   - 198 (9) 1,759

10,975 190 1,208 (9) 12,363

The funds are mainly held for the general purposes of the Society. The most significant of those held for special purposes and annotated above are for
use as follows:-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

(a) The Charity receives income from the William Leech Foundation on condition that 57% is restricted for endowment purposes. The Charity has
invested these proceeds in William Leech (Investments) Limited to generate general fund income in future years. In 2017, £336,240 was received
(2016: £320,112) giving a reinvestment figure of £190,000 (2016: £180,000). 

The estimated value of employer contributions for the year ended 31 March 2018 is £321,000 and the projected effect on the SOFA for the year to 31 
March 2018 is:-
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26 Analysis of charitable funds (cont.d)

Analysis of movements in restricted fund
1 April Incoming Expenditure 31 March
2016 resources 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Restricted gifts - national 212 38 (135) 115
Restricted gifts - international 276 4,974 (5,100) 150

488 5,012 (5,235) 265

£'000 
Work in China 29

86
53

For Bible Course development 17
Eleven other funds 80

265

Analysis of movements in unrestricted funds
1 April Impairment Incoming Expenditure Designations 31 March
2016 resources 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Funds designated annually:-
Multi-year projects 191   - 15 (37)   - 169
Fixed assets used in charitable activities 5,148   -   - (291)   - 4,857
Special Opportunities fund 885   -   - (439) 200 646
Capital fund for Bible provision overseas 
(Project Jireh) 1,100   -   -   -   - 1,100
Total designated funds 7,324   - 15 (767) 200 6,772

General fund:-
   Free reserves 7,129   - 7,684 (5,432) (200) 9,180
General fund 7,129   - 7,684 (5,432) (200) 9,180

Group 14,453   - 7,699 (6,200)   - 15,952
Subsidiary movements 5   - 6,636 (6,641)   - 0
Charity 14,458   - 14,335 (12,841)   - 15,952

The funds designated by the Trustees are for the following purposes:-

Multi-year projects                      To ensure commitments to partners can be met and projects in progress completed.
Fixed assets                                     
Special Opportunities fund

Capital fund

Transfers between funds: 2017 2016
To: From: £'000 £'000 
Fixed asset designated fund Free reserves general fund   -   - 
Multi-year project designated fund Free reserves general fund   -   - 
Special Opportunities fund Free reserves general fund 200 459

For roles to expand our work in the Middle East and Africa
For roles to expand Open the Book into new regions

To enable the provision of stocks of Bibles to those countries least able to afford them.

To enable a step change in Society activity through additional one-off expenditure on current activities 
and initiation of new activities.  The fund will be topped up from legacy and other variable income which is 
exceptionally above budgeted expectations.

To ensure that adequate reserves are set aside to allow for the depreciation of the Society's fixed assets. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2017

Restricted funds are created by donors' stipulations. At 31 March 2017, there were 15 restricted funds (2016: 16). Restrictions can apply to the type
of activity which can be undertaken, or the geographical area in which the money must be used, and at 31 March 2017, restrictions are as follows:
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27 Analysis of net assets between funds

2017 General Pension Designated Restricted Endowment Fund
fund reserve funds funds funds Balances

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

Tangible fixed assets   -   - 4,020   -   - 4,020
Investments 8,319   - 837   - 12,346 21,502
Net current assets 861   - 1,915 265 17 3,057
Defined benefit pension scheme reserve   - (4,570)   -   -   - (4,570)
Charity 9,180          (4,570) 6,772 265 12,363 24,010
Subsidiary reserves   -   -   -   -   -   - 
Group 9,180          (4,570) 6,772 265 12,363 24,010

2016 General Pension Designated Restricted Endowment Fund
fund reserve funds funds funds Balances

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

Tangible fixed assets   -   - 4,312   -   - 4,312
Investments 7,447   - 836   - 10,958 19,241
Net current assets (313)   - 2,176 488 17 2,368
Defined benefit pension scheme reserve   - (3,702)   -   -   - (3,702)
Charity 7,134          (3,702) 7,324 488 10,975 22,219
Subsidiary reserves (5)   -   -   -   - (5)
Group 7,129          (3,702) 7,324 488 10,975 22,214

28 Capital commitments and commitments under operating leases

At 31 March 2017, Bible Society had authorised and contracted for capital expenditure of £Nil (2016: £Nil).

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:
Equipment 2017 2016

£'000 £'000 

Within one year 6 12
Within two years   - 6
Within three years   -   - 

6 18

29 Contingent assets

Bible Society often receives notifications of residual legacies, where the amounts of these are not known until cash is eventually received.  These 
notifications are subject to a number of uncertainties including whether assets will be sufficient to pay all pecuniary legacies, whether other residual 
legatees exist and fluctuations in market valuations.  For these reasons, estimating the financial effect of such gifts is impractical and no value is 
reflected in the accounts.
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We would like to thank every individual and organisation, 
our church supporters and action groups, who supported 

our work in the last financial year. We would particularly like 
to thank all those who support us regularly, enabling us to plan  
ahead with confidence. We also remember with gratitude the  

generosity of donors who left gifts to us in their wills.

Together, we are  
bringing the Bible to life –  

thank you.
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